

No. 84 , Monireth Blvd. , Phnom Penh , Cambodia P.O.Box No. 172, Tel: (855-23)217510, Fax:(855-23)212840 E-mail: info@bngkh.net ; Website: www.bngkh.com

B.N.G Monthly Law Update

CONTENTS

- I. LAWS & REGULATIONS UPDATE
 - Agriculture
 - Banking
 - Customs & import-export
 - Finance
 - Labor & social affairs
 - Land & property
 - Naturalization
 - Privatization & state property
 - Public administration
 - Utilities
- **II. APPOINTMENTS**
- **III. REGISTRATION**

Prepared by BNG Legal Research & Documentation Department

May 2008

If you need back copies or our Cambodian law index please access our website at www.bngkh.com

I. LAWS & REGULATIONS UPDATE

AGRICULTURE

▶ Royal Kram NS/0508/015 of May 13, 2008 on The Promulgation of the Law on Management of Seeds and Seed Breeders (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 38, May 23, 2008):

The purpose of this Royal Kram is to manage and control crossbred seeds and crop seeds, including their processing, registration, importation, exportation and distribution, in the Kingdom of Cambodia.

This law also aims at ensuring the sustainable management, and development of crop seeds so that they can be useful for society, the economy and the environment.

This law is to be applicable to all crop seeds, including existing crop seeds and new crop seeds, except for those seeds managed under other related law.

Other items that are stipulated in detail in this Royal Kram include the protection of new crop seeds; management of crop seeds; importation, exportation and transit of crop seeds; the national fund for the development of crop seeds, inspection agents for crop seeds, penalties, inter provisions, and final provisions.

► Sub-Decree N° 58 (RGC) of May 20, 2008 on The Power of Attorney for Management of Chamkar Andoung Rubber Plantation (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 40, May 31, 2008):

Under this Sub-Decree, the juristic status of Chamkar Andoung rubber plantation, economic public establishment was terminated from May 30, 2008.

The power of attorney for management of Chamkar Andoung rubber plantation was granted to AN MANY Group Co., Ltd. in accordance with the provisions stated in Land Sale/Purchase Agreement and Land Lease Agreement dated April 03, 2008 between the Royal Government and AN MANY Group Co., Ltd. from May 30, 2008.

This Sub-Decree also dissolved the board of directors of Chamkar Andoung Rubber Plantation appointed by Sub-Decree No. 851, dated December 05, 2005, and dissolved the President of the Director General of Chamkar Andoung Rubber Plantation and State inspectors of the Chamkar Andoung Rubber Plantation from May 30, 2008.

H.E Lim Sunleang, President of the Director General of Chamkar Andoung Rubber Plantation, was transferred to work for the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries from May 30, 2008.

BANKING

► Sub-Decree N° 51 (RGC) of May 09, 2008 on The Issuance of the New 20,000 Riel Banknote (Ogs, Year 08, N° 36, May 15, 2008).

The Royal Government of Cambodia, pursuant to the proposal of the Governor General of the National Bank of Cambodia [NBC], has decided to allow the

issuance, circulation and use of the new 20,000 Riel banknote throughout the Kingdom of Cambodia.

The NBC shall have the duty to publish the identification details of the new banknote.

CUSTOMS/IMPORT-EXPORT

► Sub-Decree N° 59 (RGC) of May 29, 2008 on The Promotion of Cambodian Department of Control of Imported-Exported Goods and Suppression of Counterfeit (CAMCONTROL) to the Cambodia General Department of Control of Imported-Exported Goods and Suppression of Counterfeit (CAMCONTROL) under the Ministry of Commerce (Ogs, Year 08, N° 40, May 31, 2008):

Under this Sub-Decree, the Cambodian Department of Control of Imported-Exported Goods and Suppression of Counterfeit (CAMCONTROL) of the Ministry of Commerce as stated in Sub-Decree No. 91 of August 01, 2007 on the Organization and Functioning of the Ministry of Commerce has been promoted to the Cambodia General Department of Control of Imported-Exported Goods and Suppression of Counterfeit (CAMCONTROL) under the Ministry of Commerce.

The Cambodia General Department of Control of Imported-Exported Goods and Suppression of Counterfeit (CAMCONTROL) has the following duties:

- To provide the service of imported/exported goods inspections and cooperate with Customs and Excise Institutions based on trade facilitation through risk management;
- To protect users and ensure the quality and safety of goods and to suppress fraud through working with relevant Institutions;
- To certify exported goods upon the request of applicants ensuring that they meet the conditions required by importing countries;
- To inspect the quality and safety of goods in accordance with national standards;
- To be proactive in the declaration of goods, products or services affecting the safety and health of users, including in the production, or commerce of goods and services provided by competent institutions;
- To inspect goods and services in commercial;
- To manage the laboratory of the Ministry of Commerce;
- To provide the service of commercial control;
- To collect service fees for the inspection of imported and exported goods as well as the fee for quality analysis of goods;
- To be a Secretariat of the National Codex Committee:

- To be a facilitator for receiving and providing information about sanitation and phytosanitation;
- To be a facilitator for providing information about food safety in the framework of Chinese-Asian cooperation; and
- To perform other related duties assigned by the leadership of the Ministry.

The structures of the General Department of CAMCONTROL are also found in this Sub-Decree.

FINANCE

► Sub-Decree N° 44 (RGC) of May 02, 2008 on The Budget Credit Transfer (Ogs, Year 08, N° 33, May 04, 2008):

According to a proposal by the Minister of Economy and Finance, the budget credit of 12,455,000,000 Riels (twelve thousand four hundred fifty five million Riel) may be transferred from Chapter 09 (Unplanned Expenses) of Unallocated Expense items to Chapter 60 (Purchase) to the Ministry of Interior for public security management for 2008. The allocation of the internal budget credit expenditure of these Chapters by accounts and sub-accounts shall be made by a Prakas of the Minister of Economy and Finance for paying Som Sopal., Co., Ltd for supplying uniforms, insignia, and supplementary clothing for the national police from 2004 to 2005.

► Sub-Decree N° 46 (RGC) of May 02, 2008 on The Budget Credit Transfer (Ogs, Year 08, N° 34, May 08, 2008):

According to a proposal by the Minister of Economy and Finance, the budget credit of 10,000,000,000 Riels (ten billion Riel) may be transferred from Chapter 09 (Unplanned Expenses) of Unallocated Expense items to Chapter 65 (subvention and social assistance) to the Ministry of Interior for general administration for 2008. The allocation of the internal budget credit expenditure of these Chapters by accounts and sub-accounts shall be made by a Prakas of the Minister of Economy and Finance for paying Chhun Hong Co., Ltd. for producing Khmer identification cards for 2000 and 2004.

► Royal Kram NS/0508/016 of May 13, 2008 on The Promulgation of the Law on Public Financial System (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 39, May 27, 2008):

The purpose of this law is to regulate fundamental principles for the management of the whole public financial system. It especially focuses on the budget including the process of preparation, adoption, implementation of the budget, budget result control, functional determination and responsibilities. It regulates errors in the management of public finance of Ministries/Institutions, similar public entities, public establishments and administrations under national levels.

This law has its scope as a fundamental law for the management of national and national-level lower public finance in the Kingdom of Cambodia.

The budget structure and rights, preparation of budget, implementation of budget, accounting and control of results, penalties, inter provisions, and final provisions are also found in this Royal Kram.

► Sub-Decree N° 54 (RGC) of May 26, 2008 on The Budget Credit Transfer (Ogs, Year 08, N° 39, May 27, 2008):

According to a proposal by the Minister of Economy and Finance, the budget credit of 634,000,000 Riels (six hundred thirty four million Riels) may be transferred from Chapter 09 (Unplanned Expenses) of Unallocated Expense items to Chapter 64 (Staff Burden) to the Ministry of Interior for public security for 2008. The allocation of the internal budget credit expenditure of these Chapters by accounts and sub-accounts shall be made by a Prakas of the Minister of Economy and Finance for sponsoring police officers in creating 422,400 Cambodian identification cards from September to December, 2007 of which one card costs 1,500 Riel.

LABOR & SOCIAL AFFAIRS

► Sub-Decree N° 53 (RGC) of May 26, 2008 on the Increase of Salary for Invalid Soldiers, Retired Officials, and Handicapped Persons (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 39, April 27, 2008):

The salary for invalid soldiers, retired officials, and handicapped persons has been increased by 20 % under this Sub-Decree.

The increased allowance mentioned above shall be implemented from January 2008 onward.

LAND & PROPERTY

► Sub-Decree N° 45 (RGC) of May 02, 2008 on the Locational Transfer of Puok District Hall, Siem Reap Province (Ogs, Year 08, N° 33, May 04, 2008):

Under this Sub-Decree, the location of Puok District Hall has been transferred to State private property in exchange for a new location and administrative building in the private sector.

The record of the location of Puok District Hall into State property inventory shall be reorganized by the Ministry of Economy and Finance, the Ministry of Interior, Siem Reap Provincial Hall, Puok District Hall and other relevant specialized Departments in accordance with the Royal Government's policy.

The fulfillment of the private possessive formalities on the State location shall be conducted in accordance with law and determined principles in force.

▶ Sub-Decree N° 52 (RGC) of May 16, 2008 on the Transfer of Land in Sangkat Prek Tasek, Khan Russey Keo, Phnom Penh, and Sambuor Meas and Bakheng Communes, Mokh Kampoul District, Kandal Province (Ogs, Year 08, N° 37, May 19, 2008):

The Royal Government of Cambodia, pursuant to its requirement, has made the following decisions:

Article 1.

To transfer 800-hectare and 55-square-meters of State public land to State privte land, in Sangkat Prek Tasek, Khan Russey Keo, Phnom Penh, and Sambuor Meas and Bakheng Communes, Mokh Kampoul District, Kandal Province in fishery community for road construction from the new bridge to national road 6 A, and having code numbers determined by the Ministry of Land Management, Urban Planning, and Construction [MLMUPC] as in letter No. 357 of April 08, 2008.

Article 2.

To provide L.V.P Group Co., Ltd with the right to occupy and develop the investment project on the land as stated above.

Article 3.

Any provision contrary to this Sub-Decree shall be considered as null and void.

Article 4.

The Minister in charge of the Council of Ministers, Minister of Interior, Minister of Economy and Finance, Minister of MLMUPC, Secretaries of State of all relevant Ministries/Institutions, Phnom Penh Governor, Kandal Governor, and L.V.P Group Co., Ltd shall effectively implement this Sub-Decree from the signing date.

NATURALIZATION

- ▶ Royal Decree NS/0308/290 of March 19, 2008 on the Granting of Cambodian Nationality by Naturalization to Mr. KIM CHUNG IN, Korean Origin, Korean Nationality, Born in Seoul City, Republic of Korea (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 33, May 04, 2008).
- ▶ Royal Decree NS/0408/428 of April 24, 2008 on the Granting of Cambodian Nationality by Naturalization to Mr. KIM SONG CHOL, New Name KIM SOVANN, Korean Origin, Korean Nationality, Born in Pyoyang City, Korea (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 33, May 04, 2008).
- ▶ Royal Decree NS/0508/460 of May 03, 2008 on the Granting of Cambodian Nationality by Naturalization to Mr. WONG KOON HO, Chinese Origin, Chinese Nationality, Born in Kveang Ton Province, People Republic of China (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 37, May 19, 2008).
- ▶ Royal Decree NS/0508/520 of May 13, 2008 on the Granting of Cambodian Nationality by Naturalization to Mr. KIMSON TOM, Lao Origin, Australian Nationality, Born in Vien Chan, Lao People's Democratic Republic (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 38, May 23, 2008).
- ▶ Royal Decree NS/0508/521 of May 13, 2008 on the Granting of Cambodian Nationality by Naturalization to Mr. WU KUNLIANG, Chinese Origin, Chinese Nationality, Born in Jujian Province, People's Republic of China (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 38, May 23, 2008).

PRIVATIZATION & STATE PROPERTY

► Sub-Decree N° 55 (RGC) of May 26, 2008 on The Use of Privatization Account of Public Enterprises (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 39, May 27, 2008):

The Ministry of Economy and Finance is authorized to use a privatization account of public enterprises established under Article 83 of the 1995 Financial Law with a total amount of US\$7,000,000 (Seven million dollars) to buy the CALTEX station land located in Kampuchea Krom Blvd and behind the Office of the Council of Ministers.

The Minister in charge of the Council of Ministers, Minister of Economy and Finance, Ministers, and Secretaries of State of all relevant Institutions shall effectively implement this Sub-Decree from the date of its signature.

PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION

▶ Sub-Decree N° 48 (RGC) of May 28uary, 2008 on The Modification of Article 2 of Sub-Decree No. 65 dated April 29, 2005 on the Establishment of the National Committee on Training (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 34, May 08, 2008):

The Royal Government of Cambodia, pursuant to the Minister of the Council of Ministers, has made the following amendments:

Article One:

The NCT shall be comprised of:

Article 2 of Sub-Decree No. 65 dated April 29, 2005 on the Establishment of the National Committee on Training (NCT) has been modified as follows:

Representative		•				
Training	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	 	•••••	•••••	Vic	e chairman;

1. Deputy Prime Minister, Minister in charge of the Council of Ministers

8. Representative of the Ministry of Commerce...... Member;

	9. Representative of the Ministry of Health Member;
	10. Representative of the Ministry of Industry, Mine and Energy Member;
	11. Representative of the Culture and Fine Arts Member;
	12. Representative of the Ministry of Post and Telecommunication Member;
	13. Representative of the Ministry of Public Work and Transport Member;
	14. Representative of the Ministry of Tourism Member;
	15. Representative of the Ministry of Women's Affairs Member;
	16. Representative of the Ministry of Rural Development Member;
	17. Representative of the Ministry of Water Resources and Meteorology
	18. Representative of the Ministry of Planning Member;
	19. Representative of the Ministry of Economy and Finance Member;
	20. Representative of the Ministry of Environment Member;
	21. Representative of the Council for Development of Cambodia Member;
	22. Four representatives of employers
	23. A representative of the Chamber of Commerce Member;
	24. Two representatives of employees
	25. Three representatives of trainersMember; and
	26. Representative of the Ministry of Labor and Vocational Training
_	The NCT may invite three representatives of international and national

- NGOs to take park in its meetings.
- The NCT shall have a General Department of Vocational and Technical Training Education of the Ministry of Labor and Vocational Training as its permanent Secretariat.

Article two:

Any provision contrary to this Sub-Decree is considered as null and void.

Article three:

The Minister in charge of the Council of Ministers, the Minister of Labour and Vocational Training, and other Ministers and Secretaries of relevant Ministries/Institutions, as well as Municipal/Provincial Governors and the NCT shall implement this Sub-Decree from the date of its signing.

► Sub-Decree N° 49 (RGC) of May 09, 2007 on The Organization and Functioning of the General Secretariat of the Tonle Sap Basin Authority (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 35, May 12, 2008):

The purpose of this Sub-Decree is to regulate the organization and functioning of the General Secretariat of the Tonle Sap Basin Authority (TSBA).

The TSBA shall have the following duties:

- To be responsible for the general affairs, management, and coordination of all daily activities and work of the TSBA;
- To coordinate all activities relating to the sustainable management, conservation, and development of the Tonle Sap Basin area with Ministries/Institutions, relevant territorial authorities, national and international NGOs, and civil societies;
- To advise, inspect, and evaluate the implementation of all activities and projects of relevant Ministries/Institutions in the Tonle Sap area;
- To study, report, and advise the Chief of the TSBA about the affect of implementing such activities and projects of relevant Ministries/Institutions relating to the competent scope of the TSBA;
- To make annual strategic plans for developing the TSBA. These are to be given to the Executive Committee for review prior to giving it to the General Secretariat of the TSBA for approval;
- To research ideas for coordination and participation in the preparation and implementation testing projects on the management, conservation, and development of Tonle Sab Basin area;
- To cooperate with Ministries/Institutions, relevant territorial authorities, and development partners to prepare policies, strategic plans, programs and other projects in accordance with strategy, principles and plans of the Royal Government;
- To collect, analyze, present and disseminate data to manage, converse, and develop the Tonle Sap Basin area;
- To educate, train and promote awareness for relate persons;
- To consolidate the TSBA's working results for the TSBA's Chief in accordance with the deadline; and
- To perform other duties assigned by the TSBA's Chief.

The General Secretariat of the TSBA shall have its structure as follows:

- 1. Department of Administration and Finance;
- 2. Department of Planning and Cooperation;
- 3. Department of Economic Project Coordination;
- 4. Department of Social Project Coordination; and
- 5. Department of Information Research and Publication.

Each Department will be led by one Chief and other assistants if necessary, The roles and duties of above Departments are found in this Sub-Decree.

► Sub-Decree N° 50 (RGC) of May 09, 2007 on The Organization and Functioning of the General Department of the ABSARA Authority (Ogs, Year 08, N° 36, May 15, 2008):

This Sub-Decree determines the organization function, missions, duties and structure of the General Department of the ABSARA Authority, and duties of its Departments.

The General Department of the ABSARA Authority shall have the following duties:

- To study and prepare the implementation of long-term and short-term plans for the maintenance of and protection of temples;
- To ensure the protection and conservation of Angkor resort and other resorts given by the Royal Government and urgently intervene when necessary.
- To take action to prevent, protect, maintain, support and repair temples in the Angkor area and other resorts under the responsibility of the ABSARA Authority;
- To survey and explore antique and other artifacts;
- To study and increase the quantity of water resources and prepare the construction of necessary physical infrastructure for ensuring the sustainability of water resources;
- To replant trees in Angkor park and in the Siem Reap area, especially forming parks and plantations to protect the environment and culture of the area;
- To instruct people in how to maintain religious residences and buildings in accordance with Khmer traditional models and thus helping improve the living standards of those people;
- To take part in the increasing the knowledge and research of Khmer culture;
- To study and prepare for the implementation of long-and short-term plans highlighting the management of business activities in Angkor park area as well as other related areas:
- To work together with relevant competent authorities to train tourist guides and give information to agents as well as people employed in the tourist industry.;
- To ensure and manage fees from the use of patrimonial property in accordance with provisions in force;
- To ensure the protection of all traditional constructions in the Angkor-Siem Reap area such as historic pagodas, ancient residences, and all ancient architectural constructions;
- To cooperate with relevant competent authorities to develop the Angkor-Siem Reap area in accordance with provisions in force, to research the

- environmental affect of population growth and conform to industry standards of tourist development;
- To evaluate the effect of all tourist investment projects, and ensure regular follow up with the organization of economic royalty income;
- To choose and manage tourist investment projects in accordance with provisions in force;
- To prepare agreements with investors and concessionaires as well as resolve all conflicts in accordance with provisions in force;
- To contribute to poverty alleviation and improve the living standards of people in the Angkor-Siem Reap area by increasing jobs and by advocating programs that have this goal;
- To develop technical scientific cooperation for the advantage of the Angkor temple resort and environment around it by complying with the national policy on international cooperation;
- To prepare a management system and quality control on business and services in the region for protection of the environment and sustainable development in Angkor-Siem Reap areas and other related areas;
- To greet international and national delegations visiting the Angkor resort area;
- To prevent forestry offenses and other illegal acts in the Angkor-Siem Reap area and manage the patrimonial property of Angkor park by closely cooperating with all relevant competent authorities;
- To push for and research Khmer culture, both concrete and abstract;
- To print and disseminate scientific, technical and cultural documents and reports;
- To cooperate with institutes and international and national NGOs to make the above missions successful; and
- To prepare monthly, quarterly, 9-monthly and annual reports on the activities of the General Department of the ABSARA Authority, as well as on urgent events and the measures taken by the ABSARA Authority. To report on income and expense of the General Department of the ABSARA Authority to the Minister in charge of the Council of Ministers and Minister of Economy and Finance.

The structure of the General Department of the ABSARA Authority, and roles and duties of the Departments, the Angkor archaeology fund, financial control, and final provision are stated in detail in this Sub-Decree.

UTILITIES

► Royal Kram NS/0508/014 of May 13, 2008, Promulgating the Law on the Adoption of Law on the Government Guarantee of Payment to CETIC INT'L HYDROPOWER DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD. (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 37, May 19, 2008):

The Law on the Adoption of Law on the Government Guarantee of Payment to CETIC INT'L HYDROPOWER DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD. as adopted by the National Assembly on April 04, 2008 at the seventh session of the third legislature and as ratified by the Senate in its entirety and legality on April 29, 2008 at the fourth plenary session of the second legislature was promulgated under this Royal Kram to which the entire content of this law was attached.

II. APPOINTMENTS

- ▶ Royal Decree NS/0408/437 of April 26, 2008 on The Appointment of H.E Chao Sothy as Advisor to H.E Sar Kheng, Deputy Prime Minister, Minister of Interior, with the rank equal to Director General (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 33, May 04, 2008).
- ► Royal Decree NS/0408/445 of April 29, 2008 on The Appointment of H.E Khuon Sie as Okhna (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 34, May 08, 2008).
- ▶ Royal Decree NS/0508/458 of April 03, 2008 on The Appointment of H.E Doeurn Sovann as Advisor to the Ministry of Interior with the rank equal to Under Secretary of State (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 35, May 12, 2008).
- ► Royal Decree NS/0508/468 of May 03, 2008 on The Appointment of Mr. Kong Nuon as Okhna (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 35, May 12, 2008).
- ► Royal Decree NS/0508/473 of May 05, 2008 on The Appointment of Mr. Nuon Kheang as Okhna (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 36, May 15, 2008).
- ► Royal Decree NS/0508/502 of May 09, 2008 on The Appointment of Mr. Thai Tha Huot as Okhna (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 36, May 15, 2008).
- ▶ Royal Decree NS/0408/455 of April 30, 2008 on The Appointment of H.E Heng Sie as Okhna (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 37, May 19, 2008).
- ► Royal Decree NS/0508/556 of May 20, 2008 on The Appointment of H.E Heng Tuy as Okhna (Ogs, Year 08, N⁰ 40, May 31, 2008).

REGISTRATION

Testimonials (MOC) on The Commercial Registration of Some Companies:

The purpose of these testimonials is to certify that all the following listed companies have been properly registered for a term of 99 years under Cambodian law and are recognized as legal entities starting from their registration dates onwards.

Testimonial Nº	Registration Dates	Company's Names	Company's Address
1690	May 04, 2007	IM LY HENG Co., Ltd.	No. 11, Street 271, Sangkat Tumnup Toeuk, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1691	May 04, 2007	T C T L Co., Ltd.	Klar Village, Chamkar Doung Street, Sangkat Dangkor, Khan Dangkor, Phnom Penh
1692	May 04, 2007	KHMER EVANGELICAL CHURCH Co., Ltd.	No. 71 B, Street 608, Sangkat Boeung Kok II, Khan Tuol Kork, Phno Penh
1693	May 04, 2007	TELCOTECH LTD.	No. 97-99, Preah Norodom Blvd, Sangkat Boeung Reang, Khan Daun Penh, Phnom Penh
1694	May 04, 2007	LOR HENG YON INVESTMENT Co., Ltd.	No. 576, Street 369, Sangkat Prek Bra, Khan Meanchey, Phnom Penh
1697	May 04, 2007	FEI THENG PRODUCE IRON IMPORT EXPORT CO., LTD.	No. 52 Eo, Street 118, Sangkat Phsar Thmei I, Khan Daun Penh, Phnom Penh
1698	May 04, 2007	Ska Ads (Cambodia) Co., Ltd.	Park Way Building, Third Floor, Mao Tse Toung Blvd, Sangkat Tuol Svay Prey II, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1699	May 04, 2007	VA ITH Co., LTD.	No. 7, Krek Tboung village, Krek Commune, Phonea Krek District, Kampong Cham Province
1700	May 04, 2007	CHA CHANTHY CO., LTD.	No. 60, Village 6, Street 317, Sangkat Boeung Kok II, Khan Tuol Kork, Phnom Penh
1701	May 04, 2007	CUU LONG IMPORT EXPORT Co., Ltd.	No. 13 Eo, Street 282, Sangkat Boeung Keng Kang I, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1703	May 04, 2007	KORCAM PIONEER Co., Ltd.	No. 59, Street 240, Sangkat Chaktomukh, Khan Daun Penh, Phnom Penh
1705	May 08, 2007	GERMANY (CAMBODIA) CROCO – LION Co., Ltd.	No. 27 D, Street 371, Trea Village, Sangkat Stung Meanchey, Khan Meanchey, Phnom Penh
1707	May 08, 2007	LEGENDE ANGKOR Co., Ltd.	Stung Thmei Village, Svay Dangkum Commune, Siem Reap District, Siem Reap Province
1710	May 08, 2007	VIMEANCHEY GROUP Co., Ltd.	No. 206, Street 598, Sangkat Phnom Penh Thmei, Khan Russey Kov, Phnom Penh
1712	May 08, 2007	CITI GOLD (CAMBODIA) MINING Co., Ltd.	No. 30 B, Street 288, Sangkat Boeung Keng Kang I, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1713	May 08, 2007	GLOBAL TRADE & INVESTMENT LLC	No. 104, Street 357, Sangkat Chbar Ampov I, Khan Meanchey, Phnom Penh
1719	May 09, 2007	ASIA TRUST INVESTMENT CORPORATION	No. 2, Street 75, Sangkat Srah Chak, Khan Meanchey, Phnom Penh
1720	May 09, 2007	UNIQUE CORPORATION Co., Ltd.	No. 106 Eo, Street 146, Sangkat Phsar Depot II, Khan Tuol Kork, Phnom Penh
1729	May 09, 2007	VINH PHONG Co., Ltd.	No. 11 B, National Road 5, Khan Russey Keo, Phnom Penh

		1	
1730	May 09, 2007	SGL (CAMBODIA) LTD.	No. A 37-A 39, Street 271, Sangkat Tomnup Toeuk, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1731	May 09, 2007	M KUCH CO., LTD. (MK)	No. 44 B, Street 374, Sangkat Tuol Svay Prey I, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1733	May 09, 2007	HANUL (CAMBODIA) Co., Ltd.	No. 103 E3, Street 53, Sangkat Phsar Thmei III, Khan Daun Penh, Phnom Penh
1734	May 10, 2007	HENG REINGSEY GROUP Co., Ltd.	No. M 14 "D", Phlov Lum, Sangkat Toeuk Thla, Khan Russey Keo, Phnom Penh
1735	May 10, 2007	CHAMROEUN UDDOM Co., Ltd.	No. 775, Group 23, Kamkor Village, Svay Paor Commune, Battambang District, Battambang Province
1736	May 10, 2007	K. N. C. P Co., Ltd.	Building NORTHBRIGE 11A, Toeuk Thla Village, Khan Russey Keo, Phnom Penh
1739	May 10, 2007	RISCO LIMITED	No. 89 D, Street 432, Sangkat Tuol Tumpong II, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1740	May 10, 2007	BAE SAN Co., Ltd.	No. 87, Group 9, Sangkat Tuol Sangkae, Khan Russey Keo, Phnom Penh
1741	May 10, 2007	HI – OH Co., Ltd.	No. 41, Street 466, Sangkat Boeung Keng Kang I, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1742	May 10, 2007	KIM KYUN NUNG Co., Ltd.	Group 17, Village 3, Sangkat 4, Kham Mittapheap, Sihanoukville Municipality
1743	May 10, 2007	SUN IN CONSULTING GROUP LIMITED.	No. 17 E4, Street 282, Sangkat Boeung Keng Kang I, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1744	May 10, 2007	JUCK Co., Ltd.	No. 59 A, Street 155, Sangkat Tuol Tompun I, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1745	May 11, 2007	KAMPRAMA CORPORATION	No. 105 BEo, Street 200, Sangkat Boeung Reang, Khan Daun Penh, Phnom Penh
1747	May 11, 2007	P. R. H. Co., Ltd.	No. 27 B, Street 348, Sangkat Boeung Keng Kang III, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1749	May 11, 2007	STAR GAS (CAMBODIA) Co., Ltd.	No. 10 Eo, Street 134, Group 4, Village 5, Sangkat Monorum, Khan 7 Makara, Phnom Penh
1750	May 11, 2007	EXELIANCE ASIA CO., LTD.	No. 12, Street 614, Sangkat Boeung Kok II, Khan Tuol Kork, Phnom Penh
1753	May 11, 2007	KAH HOCK PTE LTD.	No. 17-19 D, Street 217, Sangkat Tumnub Toeuk, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1754	May 11, 2007	NAM SUNG (CAMBODIA) Co., Ltd.	No. 37, Street 592, Sangkat Boeung Kok II, Khan Tuol Kork, Phnom Penh
1755	May 11, 2007	PARK CONSTRUCTION LTD.	No. 256, Street 598, Sangkat Tuol Sangkae, Khan Russey Keo, Phnom Penh
1756	May 11, 2007	PHON LINH TOURISM & COMMERCE Co., Ltd.	No. 19, Street 105, Sangkat Boeung Pralit, Khan 7 Maraka, Phnom Penh
1757	May 11, 2007	GAMING SOLUTION LTD.	No. 211, Street 138, Sangkat Toeuk Laak I, Khan Tuol Kork, Phnom Penh
1760	May 11, 2007	THANG (CAMBODIA) INVESTMENT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (C. I. D. CORP)	No-Number House, Street 202, Ta Ngao Village, Sangkat Nirauth, Khan Meanchey, Phnom Penh

		Ltd.	
1768	May 11, 2007	SOVANNAPHUM CHUMPOU TVIP Co., Ltd.	No. 317, Preah Sihanouk Street (274), Sangkat Veal Vong, Khan 7 Makara, Phnom Penh
1769	May 11, 2007	W K C OCEAN Co., Ltd.	No. 48, Street 214, Sangkat Boeung Reang, Khan Daun Penh, Phnom Penh
1770	May 11, 2007	(CAMBODIA) NEWCASTLE CO., LTD.	IOC Building, Preah Monivong Blvd, Sangkat Boeung Reang, Khan Daun Penh, Phnom Penh
1771	May 11, 2007	DAE HAE CONSTRUCTION (CAMBODIA) Co., Ltd.	No. 48, Street 214, Sangkat Boeung Reang, Khan Daun Penh, Phnom Penh
1772	May 11, 2007	O-2 PHNOM PENH Co., Ltd.	No. D1, Street 598, Sangkat Tuol Sangke, Khan Russey Keo, Phnom Penh
1773	May 11, 2007	YELIM Co., Ltd.	No. 21 E4, Street 322, Sangkat Boeung Keng Kang I, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1775	May 11, 2007	H. M. P GROUP HOLDING Co., Ltd.	No. 320, Street 128, Sangkat Mittapheap, Khan 7 Makara, Phnom Penh
1776	May 17, 2007	RATH & RITH TRADING Co., Ltd.	No. 576, Kok Thean Village, O Embel Commune, Serei Sophorn District, Banteay Meanchey Province
1782	May 17, 2007	KNOEL INTERNATIONAL (CB) Co., Ltd.	No. 185 Eo, Street 426, Sangkat Tuol Tompung II, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh
1785	May 17, 2007	TAN TAO – K Co., Ltd.	No. 72, Tra Paing Sre Village, Pithnou Commune, Snuol District, Kratie Province
1788	May 17, 2007	TANN TANN ENTERPRISE Co., Ltd.	No. D 20, Street 1007, Phnom Penh Thmei Village, Sangkat Phnom Penh Thmei, Khan Russey Keo, Phnom Penh
1789	May 17, 2007	SOUTHLAND RUBBER BETTER Co., Ltd.	No. 105 Eo, Street 166, Sangkat O Russey II, Khan 7 Makara, Phnom Penh
1790	May 17, 2007	CHHUN HONG PEOPLE BETTER Co., Ltd.	No. 190, Kampuchea Krom Street (128), Sangkat Mittapheap, Khan 7 Makara, Phnom Penh
1791	May 17, 2007	CHHUN HONG RUBBER BETTER Co., Ltd.	No. 188 Eo, Kampuchea Krom Street (128), Sangkat Mittapheap, Khan 7 Makara, Phnom Penh
1792	May 17, 2007	SHY RAPHAT INTER – INVESTMENT GROUP Co., Ltd.	No. 91 DEo, Street 592, Sangkat Boeung Kok II, Khan Tuol Kork, Phnom Penh
1793	May 17, 2007	TOUR ANGKOR MASTER Co., Ltd.	No. 130 Eo, Street 310, Group 54, Sangkat Tuol Svay Prey II, Khan Chamkar Morn, Phnom Penh

Abbreviations

CAMCONTROL Cambodian Department of Control of Imported-Exported Goods and Suppression of Counterfeit

Co., Ltd. Company Limited

CoM Council of Ministers

H.E Excellencies

MAFF Ministry of Agriculture Forestry and Fisheries

MEF Ministry of Economics and Finance

MFN Most Favored Nation

MoEYS Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport

MoE Ministry of Environment

MIME Ministry of Industry, Mines and Energy

MND Ministry of National Defense

MoP Ministry of Planning

MoI Ministry of Interior

MoJ Ministry of Justice

MLMUPC The Ministry of Land Management, Urban Planning and Construction

MNASRI Ministry of National Assembly-Senate Relations & Inspection

MPTC Ministry of Post and Telecommunication

MRD Ministry of Rural Development

MWRM Ministry of Water Resources and Meteorology

MLVT Ministry of Labour and Vocational Training

MPWT Ministry of Public Work and Transport

MSAVYR Ministry of Social Affairs, Veteran and Youth Rehabilitation

NA National Assembly

NBC National Bank of Cambodia

NCT National Committee on Training

NGOs Non-Government Organizations

Ogs Official Gazette

RGC Royal Government of Cambodia

TSBA Tonle Sap Basin Authority

Most of the laws and regulations in this B.N.G- Monthly Law Update are based on the source from the "Official Gazette of Laws & Regulations issued weekly by the Council of Ministers. Translations into English and/or French usually appear one to three months after promulgation of the law or regulation. The Council of Jurists currently maintains a web page of Cambodian laws and regulations at: http://www.bigpond.com.kh/Council of Jurists/